## FRANCESCO COCCO

# The Torah as a Place of Refuge

Forschungen zum Alten Testament 2. Reihe 84

**Mohr Siebeck** 

## Forschungen zum Alten Testament 2. Reihe

Herausgegeben von

Konrad Schmid (Zürich) · Mark S. Smith (New York)

Hermann Spieckermann (Göttingen)

84



## Francesco Cocco

## The Torah as a Place of Refuge

Biblical Criminal Law and the Book of Numbers

Francesco Cocco, born 1975; studied theology at the Theological Institute of Assisi (Italy) and biblical exegesis at the Pontifical Biblical Institute (Rome), where he earned a doctorate in Sacred Scriptures (2006); currently Professor of Old Testament Exegesis (Pentateuch) at the Pontifical Urbaniana University (Rome, Italy).

ISBN 978-3-16-154138-4 / eISBN 978-3-16-154352-4 ISSN 1611-4914 (Forschungen zum Alten Testament, 2. Reihe)

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliographie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at http://dnb.dnb.de.

© 2016 by Mohr Siebeck Tübingen. www.mohr.de

This book may not be reproduced, in whole or in part, in any form (beyond that permitted by copyright law) without the publisher's written permission. This applies particularly to reproductions, translations, microfilms and storage and processing in electronic systems.

"BWHEBB, BWHEBL, BWTRANSH [Hebrew]; BWGRKL, BWGRKN, and BWGRKI [Greek] PostScript® Type 1 and TrueType fonts Copyright ©1994–2015 BibleWorks, LLC. All rights reserved. These Biblical Greek and Hebrew fonts are used with permission and are from BibleWorks (www.bibleworks.com)."

The book was printed on non-aging paper by Laupp und Göbel in Gomaringen and bound by Buchbinderei Nädele in Nehren.

Printed in Germany.

### In loving memory of my father, Tonino זיכרונו לברכה

### Acknowledgements

I do not think it is an exaggeration to claim that the acknowledgements represent the most welcome part of the composition of a book in that they give the author the opportunity to look back and ideally retrace the path that he has taken. A path generally undertaken in solitude, but a solitude inhabited by thousands of faces of those who – even unknowingly – have contributed to the final result in a more or less substantial way.

The book which the reader is preparing to read represents almost entirely the fruit of the period of research which I carried out at the University of Harvard as visiting scholar in the Near Eastern Languages and Civilizations Department. The months spent in "Harvard Yard" were a precious period in my life during which I was able to devote myself totally to study in a highly fitting environment which is well suited to research. My gratitude for this magnificent opportunity goes first of all to Professor Peter Machinist, who had the kindness to invite me, following the various preparatory stages to my arrival at Cambridge, MA with great friendship and courtesy. I still remember the wonderful moments spent together during which I had the opportunity to share the stages of my research with him and to listen to his illuminating views. My heartfelt thanks goes also to Professor Peter Dubovský for having set up the initial encounter with Peter Machinist.

This period at Harvard could not have been achieved without the crucial encouragement of two persons dear to me whom I am pleased to join together in gratitude: Fr. Marco Tasca, Minister General OFMConv, who not only permitted me to transfer temporarily to the USA in order to realise this project, but has supported it with readiness and foresight right from the beginning and constantly been there for me with his encouragement; and Professor Alberto Trevisiol, Rector Magnificus of the Pontifical Urbaniana University who authorised me to accept the invitation of the NELC-Harvard and allowed me to devote myself entirely to research and study during the first semester of the academic year 2014–2015.

Heartfelt thanks also to Professors Konrad Schmid, Mark S. Smith and Hermann Spieckermann who have welcomed my research by encouraging its publication in the prestigious series *Forschungen zum Alten Testament* as also to Dr. Henning Ziebritzki who accepted this publication. In gratitude and friendship, I would particularly like to remember Konrad, who was the first

contact with the editors of the series and guided me through the various stages with readiness and courtesy. I am also grateful to Dr Michael Tait for his prompt and expert translation of the manuscript into English.

I would like to reserve really special thanks for Professor Jean Louis Ska, my *Doktorvater* and good friend, who, during the entire period of my residence in Harvard never allowed me to feel the absence of his presence and support. His wise and expert advice was a superb stimulus for me to improve the work and strengthen the argument.

Finally, affectionate thanks to my own family: my mother, Luciana, my sister, Paola, with her husband, Massimiliano, and my grandmother Angelina, who, even from afar, shared daily in my work, accompanying me with love step by step. Undoubtedly, the closest presence has been that of my father, Tonino, to whose beloved memory this book is dedicated: may his soul rest in the peace of the Lord. Together with my own family, I am also grateful to my religious family, the Franciscan community of the SS. Apostoli who have followed me affectionately during my period of absence.

January 28th, 2015

Francesco Cocco

## Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	VII
Introduction	1
Chapter I: The Law in the Bible and in the Ancient Near East.	5
1. "Biblical law": ambiguities, problems and challenges of a definition	5
1.1. "Does it make sense to speak of 'biblical law'?".	
Epistemological problems	5
1.2. Methodological difficulties: the problem of the sources	7
1.2.1. Comparison with roman law	
1.2.2. Comparison with anglo-saxon law	8
1.3. Juridical models of the 19 <sup>th</sup> century: between 'evolutionism'	
and 'diffusionism'	
1.3.1. The 'evolutionist' model	9
1.3.2. The 'diffusionist' model	
1.4. The authority of the law and the law-text relationship	11
1.4.1. The authority of the law according to the statutory model	11
1.4.2. The authority of the law according to the customary model	12
1.4.3. The law-text relationship in the two models	
1.4.4. The affirmation of statutory law in Europe	
1.5. The law of the Ancient Near East	
1.5.1. The principal Mesopotamian juridical collections	16
1.5.2. The juridical tradition of ancient Egypt	
1.5.3. General considerations on the legislative collections	
of the ANE	19
1.5.3.1. Statutory interpretation: the law of the ANE	
as positive or prescriptive law	20
1.5.3.2. Customary interpretation of the laws of the ANE	21
1.5.4. Elements of continuity between the laws of the ANE	
and biblical law	24
1.5.5. Peculiar elements of biblical law compared with the laws	
of the ANE	26

1.6. "What, then, is biblical law?" An attempt at synthesis	27
Chapter II: Biblical Criminal Law and the Book of Numbers	30
1. Criteria distinguishing 'civil law' and 'criminal law'	
in the biblical legislative texts	31
<ul><li>1.1. The state of the art in recent literature</li></ul>	31
of conflict	32
2. Criteria for the cataloguing and structuring of biblical laws	34
2.1. Situational or 'external' criterion of cataloguing	35
2.2. 'Internal' criterion of cataloguing of the laws	36
3. The penal legislation in the book of Numbers	38
3.1. The legislative texts of the book of Numbers:	
general considerations	
3.2. The general structure of the book of Numbers	40
3.3. The organisation of the legislative material of the book of Numbers	41
of the book of Numbers	41
Chapter III: "Repetition or Reformulation?".	
The Curious Case of Num 35:9–34	45
1. The pericope in its literary context: demarcation and structure	
1.1. The beginning of the pericope	
1.2. The conclusion of the pericope	
1.3. The internal articolation of the pericope: a structural hypothesis	50
2. Exegetical analysis of Num 35,9–34	52
2.1. Injunction to designate "cities of refuge" (vv. 10b–15)	52
2.1.1. The meaning of מְקְלָם	
2.1.2. The meaning of רצה	57
2.1.3. The meaning of בשננה and its specific function in Num 35,9–34	62
2.1.4. The meaning of the syntagma נאל הרם	

for the hermeneutics of the whole pericope	
	72
2.1.6. The meaning of עַרָה	
2.1.7. The meaning of בי and חוֹשֶׁב	
2.1.8. The conclusion of Num 35,15	84
2.2. Determination of the different examples of homicide and	
their regulation (vv. 16–29)	89
2.2.1. The particularly wilful case, or malicious murder	
(vv. 16–21)	
2.2.2. The unintentional case, or <i>manslaughter</i> (vv. 22–23)	
2.2.3. The key function of Num 35,24	98
2.2.4. Procedure to be adopted in the case of homicide	0.0
(vv. 24–29)	99
2.3. Procedural clarifications and theologico-religious conclusion	107
(vv. 30–34)	107
2.3.1. Procedural clarifications (vv. 30–32)	
2.5.1. Theologico-religious conclusion (vv. 55–54)	110
Biblical Criminal Laws	113
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114
1. Comparison with thematically related texts  1.1. The case of homicide in the mishpat of Ex 21,12–14	114
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114 114 123
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114 114 123
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114 114 123
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114 114 123 123 124
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114 114 123 123 124
1.1. The case of homicide in the <i>mishpat</i> of Ex 21,12–14	114 114 123 124 125
1.1. The case of homicide in the <i>mishpat</i> of Ex 21,12–14	114 114 123 124 125
1.1. The case of homicide in the <i>mishpat</i> of Ex 21,12–14	114 114 123 124 125
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114 123 123 124 125 126
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114 123 123 124 125 126 136
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114 123 123 124 125 126 136
1. Comparison with thematically related texts	114123124125126136140141
1.1. The case of homicide in the <i>mishpat</i> of Ex 21,12–14	114123124125126136140141
1.1. The case of homicide in the <i>mishpat</i> of Ex 21,12–14	114123124125126136140141
1.1. The case of homicide in the <i>mishpat</i> of Ex 21,12–14	114123124125126140141142

2. Conclusions on the interdependence of the four biblical analysed	<i>texts</i> 157
Conclusion	
Bibliography	163
Index of Biblical References (selective)	175
Authors Index	180
Subject Index	

#### Introduction

"I thought I had already read this!". These could be the words expressing the reaction of someone who is venturing to read the Bible for the first time. Right from its very first pages (see Gen 1–2), he bumps into texts which recall each other to the point of inspiring the reader with a sense of déjà lu.

In fact, if one reserves a shrewder examination for the 'doublets' present in the Bible, it immediately becomes apparent that what appear, superficially, to be negligible discrepancies between accounts that are basically similar, can make all the difference when it comes to interpreting the text.

The case of Num 35,9–34 is a good example of this phenomenon: in fact, the majority (if not the totality) of commentators sees there a kind of mere repetition – perhaps furnished with some additions or adaptations – of the law on the so-called "cities of refuge", which has already been laid down in at least two Pentateuchal traditions (Ex 21,12–14 and Deut 19,1–13) and even repeated in implementing form in the book of Joshua (20,1–9).

What is lurking at the basis of this preconception is easily told: despite the fact that it has recently leapt to the centre of interest in biblical studies, as demonstrated by the numerous monographs and studies which continue to sprout on the subject,<sup>2</sup> the fourth book of the Torah – in which our text is situated – has never enjoyed great popularity among the readers and commentators of the Bible.

This is principally due to the organisation of the literary material in the book which sees the alternation of interminable lists and censuses – giving rise to the Greek name of the book, 'Numbers' – with glimpses of narratives which can be reduced to a linear and clear sequence only with difficulty; of prescriptions of an essentially cultic character to various civil or penal norms to the point that the entire book seems to have been considered basically as a mass of traditions lacking in homogeneity with regard to their origin, style

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a systematic presentation with examples of the phenomenon of different versions of the same events, cf. J.L. SKA, *Introduction to Reading the Pentateuch* (Winona Lake, IN 2006) 53–60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For an update on the literature (ancient and recent) relating to the book of Numbers, cf. the recent contribution of J.L. SKA, "Old and New in the Book of Numbers", *Biblica* 85 (2014) 102–116.

2 Introduction

and literary form, traceable, for the most part, to rather late period compared with the other books of the Pentateuch.<sup>3</sup>

My claim is that it is precisely this bias, which generally accompanies the book of Numbers, that has also had negative repercussions on the understanding of the pericope of Num 35,9–34, resulting in its downgrading as a simple repetition of legal content that is basically already present in the biblical legislation of the previous canonical books.

But is this really a case of sterile repetition or are we rather faced with a case of reformulation?

I anticipate at once that my response to this question – as those who are patient enough to read this book thoroughly will be able to observe – is that we find ourselves here before a case of reformulation the implications of which are extremely interesting for the understanding of the biblical penal legislation which, in this particular fragment, exhibits traces of modernity so surprising as to be as good as the defence of civil liberties in the legal systems currently in force in the majority of democratic states.

My enquiry takes its starting point and develops, therefore, from the novel contribution which the legislation in Num 35,9–34 confers on the entire biblical law of a penal character. Precisely in starting out from this presupposition, the logical path which I am putting forward is structured in a way entirely opposite to that normally followed by the exegetes who deal with the theme of the legislation relating to the cities of refuge on the basis of the canonical order of the traditions which refer to them, and, in addition, taking as basically given that this order is also reflected in the relationships of dependency of the individual legal provisions.

The arrangement of the material follows the scheme contained in the words which form the subtitle of this book: *Biblical Criminal Law and the Book of Numbers*.

The first two chapters, which are of a clearly introductory nature, seek to understand what biblical law is, in what terms it is distinguished from other ancient legal systems and, on the other hand, in what way it corresponds to them. After these general preliminaries, the field of research is confined to the biblical penal legislation by means of the highlighting of criteria useful

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As an example of the general impression which the book of Numbers makes on its readers – in the broadest sense of the term – it is sufficient to quote some words of M. Noth: "There can be no question of the unity of the book of Numbers, nor of its originating from the hand of a single author. This is already clear from the juxtaposition of quite varied styles and methods of presentation, as well as from the repeated confrontation of factually contradictory concepts in one and the same situation" (M. NOTH, *Numbers. A Commentary* [The Old Testament Library; London 1968] 4). For the convenience of the reader, I shall make use of the English translation of this work the original edition of which is in German: M. NOTH, *Das vierte Buch Mose. Numeri* (Das Alte Testament deutsch 7; Göttingen 1966; *Numbers: A Commentary* (OTL; London 1968).

Introduction 3

for the distinction (as far as this is possible) between 'civil' and 'criminal' laws. The last part of this introductory section consists of a progressive familiarisation with the book of Numbers, general context of the pericope being studied here, with particular attention to the legislative material present in it and to the possible criteria for understanding the organisation of this material.

With the exegetical analysis of Num 35,9–34, the third chapter enters directly into the heart of the argument by means of the complementary use of the diachronic and synchronic methods, allowing the demarcation of the pericope; the determination of an internal arrangement which structures the argument; the analysis of the key words and expressions; the development of the overall meaning of the text; and the general contribution which the law being studied offers to the entire biblical legislation relating to the different cases of homicide.

Finally, in the fourth chapter, the text of Num 35,9–34 is compared with the biblical traditions held to be parallel: we start off, therefore, with the exegetical analysis of the individual pericopes of Ex 21,12–14; Deut 19,1–13 and Josh 20,1–9 in order to reach a rationale of the possible relationships of interdependence, thematic and formal, which bind together all these traditions relating to the "cities of refuge". It is precisely from this comparison with the other parallel traditions that there emerges, with extreme clarity, the novel contribution of the legislation of Num 35,9–34: something which justifies our working hypothesis on the basis of which it is claimed that the legal reformulation contained in this text represents a milestone in the history and evolution of biblical criminal law in particular and biblical law in general.

#### Chapter I

#### The Law in the Bible and in the Ancient Near East

The scholastics held that the adequate specification of the terms of the question that was to be treated (what they called the *explicatio terminorum*) represented an excellent way of undertaking a demonstration or a scientific discourse. Since the general object of our research is the study of the penal legislation relating to the cases of homicide which appear in Numbers 35, the aim of this first chapter will be that of clarifying the fundamental concepts, proceeding deductively from the definition of the general notion of 'law' within the Bible in order to consider its concrete application to the penal laws contained in the book of Numbers.

## 1. "Biblical law": ambiguities, problems and challenges of a definition

## 1.1. "Does it make sense to speak of 'biblical law'?". Epistemological problems

It is consistent with human nature and with the special motives of their authors that codes like that of Manu should pretend to the highest antiquity and claim to have emanated in their complete form from the Deity [...] The Roman Code was merely an enunciation in words of the existing customs of the Roman people. Relatively to the progress of the Romans in civilization, it was a remarkably early code, and it was published at a time when Roman society had barely emerged from that intellectual condition in which civil obligation and religious duty are inevitably confounded.<sup>1</sup>

The basic idea which shines out from this short passage of the juridical eloquence of Sir Henry J.S. Maine<sup>2</sup> represents a problem not least for the object

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> H.J.S. MAINE, Ancient Law. Its Connection with the Early History of Society and Its Relation to Modern Ideas (London, UK <sup>10</sup>1908) 15–16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sir Henry James Sumner Maine (1822–1888) was a famous English jurist, held today as a milestone in the evolution of Anglo-Saxon jurisprudence. Beyond the successful attempt to make known his material widely by means of a gentle style, immediately comprehensible even to laymen, he is ascribed with the merit of having demonstrated the profound link which connects the law with the other human sciences, particularly history and sociology. Reading his magisterial work (quoted above), one has the sense that, rather than simply highlighting the link between human sciences and law, Maine tends to empha-

to our research to the extent that it has contributed to creating – or else to consolidating – a prejudice which confines the Jewish law in general and biblical law in particular<sup>3</sup> to an area foreign to that scientific discipline which goes under the name of Legal History.

From Maine's words, indeed, one gathers that the signs of the social progress and of the cultural evolution of a specific community are uniquely recognisable in the ability which the community itself has of emancipating itself from the idea that law and religion are two sides of the same coin. This idea would represent none other than an archaic conception, founded deeply on prejudice: according to Maine's analysis, authentic progress consists in embracing a system of thought alternative to this prejudice on the basis of which law and religion are conceived as two independent systems of reference. Something that, according to Maine, is typical of advanced and developed social groups. From this it follows that, since biblical law comes within the area of religious systems by virtue of recognising its own origin in YHWH, by its very nature it would be excluded from the aims and objectives of a discipline such as the history of law.

If one takes this theory to its extreme consequences, one finds oneself compelled to maintain that the biblical law does not belong among the scientific disciplines, as if to say that it does not even exist. A discussion like this of its epistemological status seems to us a good starting point for understanding what and how big are the challenges which await whoever wishes to tackle the study of biblical law.

sise the law itself to the detriment of other elements, specifying the primitive history of society and the law as "the only quarter in which it [i.e. the truth] can be found" (MAINE, Ancient Law, 3). For further information on Maine, cf. R. COCKS, Sir Henry Maine. A Study in Victorian Jurisprudence (Cambridge Studies in English Legal History; Cambridge, UK 1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Given the nature of the present research, which will turn upon an analysis of a text of the book of Numbers, when we speak of biblical law we are referring to the legislation contained in the Old Testament and especially in the Pentateuch (if not specified otherwise).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> B. Jackson summarises this passage of Maine's thought well: "[...] The development from law-religion to law-and-religion becomes regarded as an evolutionary progression. Since Jewish law is a "religious system", it represents the law-religion 'stage', and so falls outside the interest of the legal historian" (B. JACKSON, *Essays in Jewish and Comparative Legal History* [Studies in Judaism in Late Antiquity 10; Leiden 1975] 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Let me explain immediately that, given the nature of the present study which is admittedly always a study in biblical exegesis and not in Law, we shall utilise the terms 'Law' and 'law' synonymously. For a distinction and definition of the two concepts, cf. J.L. SKA, "Il diritto e la legge: una distinzione fondamentale nella Bibbia", *Civiltà Cattolica* 157 (2006) 468–479.

#### 1.2. Methodological difficulties: the problem of the sources

Certainly the problems go way beyond the purely philosophical question: in fact, beyond causing the difficulty we have already signalled of recognising the biblical law as enjoying the rank of a scientific discipline, the marriage between the religious and legal elements which lies at the basis of the biblical precepts invests the much more empirical area of the study of sources and of methodology, creating not a few problems in the systematisation of the material. A rapid comparison with two sets of laws – Roman and Anglo-Saxon – will prove to be useful in clarifying the nature of the difficulty referred to. 6

#### 1.2.1. Comparison with roman law

Having recourse, inevitably, to a simplification, we can state that the ancient Roman law rested on the general principle of the authority of the one who exercises justice to the point that the magistrate – in the very different levels of the judicial function – came to enjoy also the function of legislator to the extent to which his application of determinate principles to concrete situations survived him as patrimony for universal law under the form of jurisprudence. That allows the statement that, for the Romans, the authority of the law derived and descended from that of the legislator which, in the nature of things, coincided with the magistrate who was administering justice.

Given these premises, whoever intends to study the history of Roman law does so starting from sources the origin of which can be reconstructed with a reasonable degree of certainty, since the legal texts have generally been transmitted with a precise indication of the author in question. The attention paid by the compilers of the various collections of Roman laws to recording the origin of each legal provision derives from the fact that the authority of the provision leant on the authority of the magistrate who had pronounced it: it thus became anything but indifferent to know who was at the origin of a particular sentence or juridical act.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> On this subject, cf. J.L. SKA, "Biblical Law and the Origin of Democracy", *The Ten Commandments: The Reciprocity of Faithfulness* (ed. W.P. BROWN) (Library of Theological Ethics; Louisville, KY 2004) 154–155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Cf. Jackson, *Essays*, 2; Ska, "Biblical Law", 154. It will be necessary to pay attention to the monumental codification undertaken by the Roman Emperor in the East, Justinian (482–565), to find juridical material which goes beyond jurisprudence to open itself up to theoretical speculation on the law. In fact, in the work of Justinian, alongside the works which collect the jurisprudence, past and present (gathered together in the famous *Corpus Iuris Civilis*), we also find the *Institutiones*, a kind of manual in four volumes aimed at education in the law. The structure of these volumes is very careful: it presents subdivisions with titled rubrics favouring the memorisation of the contents by pupils.

Now, if there is one characteristic common to the collections of laws contained in the Bible – collections that are in other ways so unlike and variegated – it is precisely the anonymous nature of the individual precepts and regulations which, in the best of the hypotheses, are simply referred to Moses<sup>8</sup> but which always have their origin and foundation in God, with all the problems that such an attribution involves, as we have had the opportunity to see. It is clear that such a scenario, characterised by anonymity in the very *locus* which the Roman legislation recognised as the source of law, is marked by the absence of one of the taxonomic criteria which form the basis of the classification of laws, namely, the attribution of authorship to the individual legal acts.

#### 1.2.2. Comparison with anglo-saxon law

From another point of view, where the principle of Roman law invokes the authority of the magistrate as the foundation and authority of the law, the Anglo-Saxon tradition is proud to recognise the roots of its own juridical civilisation in the common law or customary law, founded on the acceptance of the principle on the basis of which jurisprudence – understood as the corpus of the judicial precedents of the various cases – is the source of law. It will not be necessary to emphasise the subject in order to understand how fundamental here are the circumstances of place and time, as also how considerable the possibility of attributing to concrete persons the various cases as well as the related juridical provisions adopted.

None of all that (or at least very little) can be found in the biblical legal texts the literary production of which is subjected – in a way entirely similar to what happens with the narrative texts – to the so-called principle of "predominance of action": 9 in other words, the text tends systematically to omit (or at least to put in second place) information on the interior world of the characters and of the circumstances of their lives in order to make room almost exclusively for the role which they take on in the events which are being narrated. As if to say that the biblical narrative generally privileges the instrumental function of the character rather than indulging in the description of circumstantial or interior aspects which characterise the actors in a way that is unique and unrepeatable. It is clear, on the other hand, that, for an historian

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> On the role of Moses, to whom the biblical text often seems to attribute authorship of the Law, speaking of the "Torah of Moses, cf. J.L. SKA, "La scrittura era parola di Dio, scolpita sulle tavole' (Es 32,16). Autorità, rivelazione e ispirazione nelle leggi del Pentateuco", *Ricerche Storico Bibliche* 12 (2000) 18–23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> On the concept of "predominance of action" in biblical narrative and on the characterisation of the actors, cf. J.L. SKA, "Our Fathers Have Told Us". Introduction to the Analysis of Hebrew Narratives (Subsidia Biblica 13; Roma 1990) 83–93.

of Roman or Anglo-Saxon law or of whatever other cultural matrix, such aspects turn out to be fundamental.<sup>10</sup>

In the face of these multiple difficulties, should we, therefore, join Maine in decreeing the isolation of biblical law from the assembly of scientific disciplines on account of the epistemological and methodological problems which we have just outlined? Perhaps there is another way which passes through the remodelling of the very concept of 'law' by means of the attempt to liberate our judgement – as far as humanly possible – from the influence which some modern juridical models exercise on our way of looking at the legislative corpus contained in the Bible, thus creating a real *pre*-judice (in the literal sense of the term).

## 1.3. Juridical models of the 19<sup>th</sup> century: between 'evolutionism' and 'diffusionism'

As is suggested wisely by B. Jackson, <sup>11</sup> a good way of bringing about the liberation from the prejudice spoken of above is that of demonstrating the contours of the said influence with the object of limiting their conditioning effects: we shall seek, therefore, to summarise the contents and principal authors of the chief juridical models of the nineteenth century which, as far as we can see, continue to exercise a certain influence on the general perception of biblical law.

#### 1.3.1. The 'evolutionist' model

In the second half of the nineteenth century, the emergence and affirmation of the classic theory of evolution as the dominant theoretical paradigm contributed to the establishment of a conviction which, to simplify in the extreme, could be reproduced thus: human history is deployed along the line of a constant progress, understood as the superseding of the previous theoretico-cultural paradigm by the acceptance of the subsequent paradigm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Well-known is the Ciceronian hexameter in which the formula "quis, quid, ubi, quibus auxiliis, cur, quomodo, quando" summarises the circumstances of place, time and case which form the starting point for any kind of investigation into the truth of an event. Cf. MARCUS TULLIUS CICERO, Rhetoricorum, seu de inventione rhetorica (cited by THOMAS AQUINAS, Summa Theologiae, Ia–IIae, q. 7, a. 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Cf. B. Jackson, "Models in Legal History: The Case of Biblical Law", *Journal of Law & Religion* 18/1 (2002–2003) 1–30; ID., *Wisdom-Law. A Study of the* Mishpatim *of* Exodus 21:1–22:16 (Oxford, UK 2006) 3–39. In dealing with this subject, I shall make ample reference to this study as also to the recent work of J. BERMAN, "The History of Legal Theory and the Study of Biblical Law", *The Catholic Biblical Quarterly* 76 (2014) 19–39.

Such a presupposition very quickly crosses beyond the limits of ethnoanthropology to be claimed as a kind of interdisciplinary gain, valid across sciences quite different from one another but sharing the fact of having the human being as their subject. Basically, Maine's assessment of the backwardness or not of the different legal models cited at the beginning of this chapter represents none other than a variation in the juridical key of this evolutionist theoretical principle.

In the German sphere, a similar approach to that of Maine was advanced by the German philosopher and jurist, Friedrich Karl von Savigny (1779-1861): he was the founder of the "Historical School" of law, characterised by the study and the systematic re-elaboration of customary law which the Germans describe as "Das gemeine Recht", an expression which corresponds to the common law in the English mould. Savigny is also commonly considered the precursor of modern pandects, subsequently developed and systematised by his disciple Georg Friedrich Puchta. <sup>12</sup>

#### 1.3.2. The 'diffusionist' model

The other great anthropological model of the nineteenth century, which is set alongside and in competition with the evolutionist one is known as 'diffusionism'. Whereas the classical evolutionist theory states that cultural progress occurs in stages common to each human being, the diffusionist approach maintains the possibility of identifying some fundamental cultural aspects which occur in identical form in the most disparate areas of the world: originating in a particular place, these cultural aspects would have been diffused or spread into different regions, supplanting others of an endogenous nature. <sup>14</sup>

As is clear from even an analysis as superficial as this, the greater difference between the two theoretical models of anthropology is evident in their overall valuation of human society and its concrete possibilities of progress: for evolutionism, in fact, the human group is open to a constant and potentially unlimited state of development, <sup>15</sup> while diffusionism exhibits considerably

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For further information on Savigny, cf. I. DENNELER, *Friedrich Karl von Savigny* (Preußische Köpfe 17; Berlin 1985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Kulturkreise ("cultural circles"), according to the German definition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> One of the most classic examples is constituted by the use of the bow which would have very quickly superseded the spear in different and widely separated cultures on account of its versatile characteristics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This romantic ideal is a concept which seems to me well expressed by a famous passage of a canto by Leopardi in which the poet of Recanati professes his almost unlimited faith in social progress: "Dipinte in queste rive / son dell'umana gente espresse / le magnifiche sorti e progressive" ("The magnificent and progressive fate / of the human race / is depicted in this place". G. LEOPARDI, *Canto XXXIV: La ginestra, o fiore del deserto*).

## Index of Biblical References (selective)

Genesis		21,13	57, 67, 121, 122
1–2	1	21,13–14	21, 14, 114, 115,
3,15	95		119, 120–122, 132,
4,8	137		141, 157
9,5–6	104, 111, 140	21,14	122, 132
9,6	104	21,15	114, 117, 118
17,8	83	21,15–17	117, 119, 122, 132,
23,4	83		141, 157
24,12	54	21,16	114, 117
24,58	93	21,17	114, 117, 118
27,20	54	21,18–22	118, 119
28,4	83	21,28–37	36
	83	21,29	127
35,27		21,30	109
36,7	83	21,33–36	36
37,1	83	21,37	37
		21,37-22,16	37
Exodus		22,16	114
1,14	82	22,17	116
12,20	106	22,20	81
19–24	26	23,9	81
20,12	117	24,7	26
20,13	58, 59, 116, 117	30,12	109
20,15	116, 117		
20,22-23,33	38	Leviticus	
21	121, 122, 160	1 7	20
21,1	114	1–7	38
21,1–11	114, 119	3,17	106
21,1–22,16	114	4–5	63, 66
21,2–11	36	4,2	62, 63
21,2-22,16	114	4,13–14	64
21,12	117, 119–122, 132,	4,22	62, 63
,	141, 157	4,27	62, 63
21,12-13	49, 168	4, 27-28	64
21,12–14	1, 3, 44, 45, 113,	5,1	66
,	114, 119, 121, 142,	5,1–4	66
	161	5,14–16	64
21,12-17	114, 116, 118, 141	5,14-19	66
21,12–27	36	5,15	62, 63
21,12 21	30	5,17–19	64

5,18	62, 63, 65, 66	15,24	62
6,20	103	15,25	62
7,26	106	15,26	62
11–15	38	15,27	62
16	38	15,28	62
	103	15,29	62
16,32 17,1–25,54	38	*	41
	134	21,21	41
17,1–7 17,7	134	21,21–26 21,2–36,13	40
17,7 17,11a	111	25,19–36,13	40
*		· · · · · ·	
19,34	81	26,3	46 46
20,9	109	26,63 27,11	106
21,10	103	*	
22,14	62	33,1–49	53
22,23	55	33,48–50	46
23,3	106	33,50	46
23,21	106	33,50–56	46
24,19–20	91	33,51	53
25	83	33,53	53
25,25	70	33,52–54	53
25,25–34	70	34,1	47
25,26	70	34,1-15	46
25,30	70	34,16	47
25,48	70	34,16–29	46, 48, 49
25,49	70	34,29	46
25,54	70	35	38, 47–49, 53, 55,
27,13	70	57,	58, 61
27,15	70	35,1	46
27,19	70	35,1–8	48, 49, 78
27,20	70	35,2a	78
27,27	70	35,6	47, 55, 58
27,28	70	35,6a	78
27,31	70	35,6–34	43
27,33	70	35,9	50, 107
		35,9–10a	50
Numbers		35,9–11	58, 87
		35,9–15	48, 89, 158
1–4	111	35,9-24	50, 107
1–10	43	35,9-29	47
1,1–10,10	40, 41	35,9-34	61, 62, 67, 68, 72,
1,1–25,18	40		74–76, 80, 84–86,
6,9	96		89, 92, 95-99, 101,
10,11–21,20	41		104, 107, 111–114,
10,11–22,1	40		126
10,11–36,13	41	35,10b	51, 53, 54, 109
14,4	76	35,10b-15	68
15	43	35,11	44, 45, 47–50, 52,
15,2	106		54, 55, 62, 67, 68,
15,22–31	63		72, 73, 85, 127, 160

35,11b	51 04	35,31	107 100
,	51, 84	· ·	107, 109
35,11–12	72, 85	35,31–32	109
35,12	55, 58, 69–75, 78,	35,32	55, 100, 101, 109
25.12.15	80, 84, 87, 92, 99	35,33	111
35,13–15	80, 87	35,33–34	54, 111, 112
35,14	55, 101	35,34	50, 54, 111
35,14–15	133–136	36,1–12	43
35,15	51, 55, 62, 67, 68, 83–85, 127	36,13	46, 53
35,15b	84	Deuteronomy	
35,16	51, 58, 60, 90, 91,		
97,	129	3,12-20	123
35,16–18	90, 129	4,1	136
35,16–21	51, 90, 93, 95	4,1–2	28
35,16–29	48, 49, 51, 85, 87,	4,41–43	124
	89, 90	4,42	127
35,16-34	158	4,43	79
35,17	58, 60, 97, 129	4,44	123
35,18	58, 60, 95, 129	4,44-28,68	123
35,19	58, 60, 90, 92, 93	4,6	28, 136
35,20	58, 93, 94, 96, 97,	4,41–43	123, 145, 148
33,20	121	5,17	58
35,20-21	93,97, 98	5,28-6,1	125
35,20–21	93, 95, 97	6,17–18	136
35,21b	95, 93, 97	7,16	139, 140
		9,6	130
35,22	51, 94–98, 127	9,15	31
35,22–23	59, 90, 96, 98	10,19	81
35,22–28 35,22	51	11,8	136
35,23	97	11,22–24	136
35,23a	97	11,32–12,1	125
35,24	68, 70, 97, 98, 105,	12,1–14	131
25.24.25	106	12,1–26,15	38, 123
35,24–25	75, 78	12,10	126
35,24–28	90	12,13–28	134
35,24–29	107	12,13–19	134
35,25	55, 58, 68, 70, 99,	12,20	120
25.25.24	100, 101, 102	12,29a	126
35,25–34	47	14,22–29	130
35,26	55, 58, 97, 99	14,24	130
35,27	55, 58, 68, 70, 99	16,18	137
35,27b	95, 105	17,6	108
35,28	51, 55, 58, 99–101, 104	18,6	93
35,29	49, 51, 106, 107	19	55, 57, 79, 121,
35,30	58, 107, 108		122, 155, 160
35,30a	59	19,1	123, 124, 126
35,30 <del>-</del> 31	107, 110	19,1-21,9	125
35,30–31	107, 110	19,1–3	125
35,30–32 35,30–34	48, 49	19,1–7	133, 135
55,50 <del>-</del> 5 <del>4</del>	TU, T2	*	*

19,1–13	1, 3, 44, 49, 57, 86,	20	55, 79, 144, 145,
- ,	87, 113, 114, 120–		148, 150, 153, 156,
	124, 127, 131, 132,		158
	134, 135, 140–142,	20-21	47, 57
	150, 153, 156–158,	20,1–7	44, 45, 113
	160, 161	20,1–9	3, 141, 142, 150,
19,1-14	96	20,1-7	151, 156
19,2	124, 132, 134	20,1	145
19,2–7	132	20,1–3	148, 154
19,3	126, 127, 130	20,1–3	55, 142, 145
19,4	67, 127	20,3	55, 62, 67, 144, 151,
19,4b		20,3	
19,4-5	121, 122, 137, 157 122, 158	20,3a	154, 155, 161 155
19,4b–5b	121	20,3b	144, 149–152
19,4–6	122, 158	20,3–4	151
19,4–10	126, 136	20,4–5	154, 158
19,5	127, 129	20,5	127
19,5b	121, 122, 129, 157	20,6	154
19,5–6	132	20,7–8	79, 145, 146, 154,
19,6	70, 127, 130–132	20.7.0	158
19,7	132, 134	20,7–9	148
19,8	134, 135	20,8	136, 154
19,8–9	133, 135, 136	20,9	62, 69
19,10	133, 136	21	47
19,10–13	133, 135	21,13	47, 55
19,11	121, 122, 129, 132,	21,21	47, 55
	137, 141, 157	21,27	47, 55
19,11–13	136	21,32	47, 52
19,12	70, 137, 150, 158	21,38	55
19,13	125, 139–141		
19,13a	139, 140	1 Samuel	
19,14	123, 125, 126	( 10	100
19,15	108	6,18	109
19,15–18	123	12,3	109
19,16–34	158	21,10	93
19,18-19	108	26,6	93
19,21	71, 91, 123	30,15	93
20,1-20	123		
21,1	126	1 Kings	
21,1-9	123	1,50-53	119
21,9	123	<i>'</i>	
21,18-21	118	12,20	76
25,12	125		
26,18	136	2 Kings	
28,9	136	17,13	102
,		17,13	102
Joshua		1 Chronicles	
	105		
3,4	127	6	55, 57

6,42	55	Joel	
6,52	55	2,12–13	102
2.01		2,12 13	102
2 Chronicles		Malachi	
30,6	102	3,7	102
		3,7	102
Isaiah		Habakuk	
1,21	60	2.7	96
29,5	96	2,7	90
30,13	96	Job	
44,22	102	300	
		24,14	60
Jeremiah		33,24	109
2,23-3,31	125		
3,11-4,2	102	Psalms	
16,19	56	18,3	56
17,17	56	39,4	130
		94,6	
Ezekiel			
14,6	102	Proverbs	
25,15	95	6,15	96
35,5	92	6,35	109
39,9	91	10,11–22,1	40
		22,2-36,13	40
Hosea		22,13	60
6,9	60	29,1	96
14,1–2	102	29,5	96
		Ruth	
Amos		1,11	93
5,12	109	3,13	93
3,14	107		

## Authors Index

Achenbach, R. 43, 46	Cocco, F. 52, 82, 103, 131, 137
Adam, KP. 25	Cocks, R. 6
Alonso Schökel, L. 36	Cortese, E. 151
Alt, A. 117, 118	Cotterrell, R.B.M. 13
Anbar, M. 120–122	Crüsemann, F. 115
Andrew, M.E. 58, 59	
Artus, O. 25	David, M. 113, 131, 141, 150
Auld, A.G. 46, 48, 131	Davies, E.W. 79, 91, 92, 101, 104, 105,
Avemarie, F. 25	109
,	De Vaulx, J. 40, 46, 48–50, 56, 63, 71,
Baentsch, B. 86, 103, 160	75, 78, 84, 107
Bailey, J.W. 103	De Vaux, R. 63, 64, 70, 71, 79, 80, 81,
Barbiero, G. 82	104
Barmash, P. 15, 61, 69-71, 90, 91, 109,	Delekat, L. 151
121, 131, 138	Delnero, P. 22
Bartor, A. 25	Denneler, I. 10
Baumgartner, W. 54, 56, 58	Dentan, R.C. 70
Bergmann, E. 17	Domeris, W.R. 58
Berlanstein, L.R. 14	Driver, G.R. 21
Berman, H.J. 9, 11, 13, 15-17	Driver, S.R. 54, 56, 58, 88, 97, 108,
Boccaccio, P. 36	123–125, 130, 137
Bottéro, J. 23	Driver, W. 103
Bovati, P. 33	Durham, I. 82
Boyer, G. 35	
Briggs, C.A. 54, 56, 58, 108	Eilers, W. 35
Brown, F. 54, 56, 58, 108	
Brown, W.P. 7	Fabry, HJ. 42, 59, 66, 70, 76, 81, 94,
Buchholz, J. 137	95, 99, 100, 109, 129
Budd, P.J. 46, 63, 79, 91, 92, 101, 104,	Farrer, M.R.W. 76
105, 107	Finkelstein, J.J. 29
Burnside, J. 25	Fishbane, M. 131
Buss, M.J. 32–34, 91, 93	
	Geldart, W.M. 30
Carmichael, C.M. 25	Gerstenberger, E. 25, 26, 119
Carpenter, E. 76	Görg, M. 76
Cassuto, U.	Graupner, A. 100
Cazelles, H. 34, 35, 141	Gray, G.B. 40, 46, 47, 55, 63, 71, 72, 75,
Childs, B. 114, 116–118	79, 81, 90, 91, 93, 97, 98, 101, 105,
Christensen, D.L., 123, 125	107, 109, 110

Greenberg, M. 24, 25, 31, 56, 70, 95,	Levy, D. 76–78
104, 108, 131	Lipinski, E. 94
Grimm, K.J. 62	Lobban, M. 13
Gross, W. 38	Lockshin, M. 124
Haase, R. 21	Maine, H.J.S. 5, 6, 9, 10, 26
Haran, M. 78	Markl, D. 59, 126
Hartley, J.E. 63	Martens, E.A. 100
Henton Davies, G. 87	Martin-Achard, R. 81, 83
Hepner, G. 25	May, M. 28
Hertzberg, H.W. 147	Mazar, B. 78
Hill, A.E. 56, 62	McCann, J.C. 109
Hoffmann, D. 99	McCarthy, C. 139
Holzinger H. 40, 42	McKeating, H. 114, 131
Hossfeld, FL. 59, 99	McKenzie, J.L. 137
Houtman, C. 26	Mertz, E. 131
Hubbard, R.L. 70, 100	Miles, J.C. 21
Hurvitz, A. 78, 87	Milgrom, J. 54, 63, 64–66
	Muraoka, T. 93, 97, 98, 115, 117, 128,
Jackson, B. 6, 7, 9, 11, 24, 26, 32, 37,	129, 135
69, 114, 115, 119–122	
Jacobsen, T. 76, 77	Nicolsky, N.M. 131
Jankowski, B. 65	Nihan, C. 63, 66
Jepsen, A. 114	Noth, M. 2, 39, 41, 42, 46, 48, 49, 55,
Joüon, P. 53, 93, 97, 98, 115, 117, 128,	63, 85, 86, 104, 107, 111, 141, 160
129, 135	
	O'Connor, M. 93, 98, 115
Kaltoff, B. 99	Olson, D.T. 40, 43
Kautzsch, E. 53, 93, 97, 98, 115, 117,	Otto, E. 19–24, 42, 115, 119
128, 129, 135	
Kellermann, D. 81, 83	Pakkala, J. 143
Kennicott, B. 53, 81, 83, 139	Patrick, D. 115
Klíma, J. 17	Paul, S.M. 26, 27, 31, 35–37, 109
Knierim, R.P. 40, 41, 46, 49, 65	Pennington, K. 31
Köhler, L. 54, 56, 58	Petschow, H. 17, 35
Konkel, A.H. 94	Phillips, A. 25, 31, 32, 59, 69, 138
Kraus, F.R. 22, 23	Phillips, D.L. 53, 74
Kruchten, JM. 17	Pope, M.H. 79
1 6 4 6 10 20	Preiser, W. 20
Lafont, S. 18, 20	D 1 4 K 117
Landsberger, B. 21	Rabast, K. 117
Lang, B. 109	Ramírez Kidd, J.E. 83
Lass, R. 57 Lee, B.P. 25	Rendtorff, R. 65
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Reventlow, H.G. 50
Lee, W.W. 46, 48, 49 Levin, C. 144	Ringgren, H. 66, 70, 71, 76, 81, 94, 95,
Levin, C. 144 Levine, B.A. 46, 49, 55, 58, 61, 62, 63,	99, 100, 109, 129, 59 Rofé, A. 36, 85, 114, 125, 126, 130–135,
74, 78, 86, 92, 105, 107, 160	144–153
Levinson, B. 20, 115, 120	Römer, T. 38, 39, 42, 43
ECTHOON, D. 20, 113, 120	Romor, 1. 30, 37, 72, 73

182 Authors Index

Roth, M.T. 16, 21 Rothenbusch, R. 119 Ruwe, A. 141

San Nicolò, M. 35 Schenker, A. 119, 120 Schmid, K. VII, 109 Schmidt, L. 46, 48, 49, 59, 79, 85, 86, 135, 144, 150-156, 160 Scholl, R. 18 Schwienhorst-Schönberger, L. 115, 116 Seidl, T. 66 Seux, M.-J. 20 Shinan, A. 32 Ska, J.L. VIII, 1, 6-8, 16, 18-21, 23, 25-28, 38-42, 123, 137, 144 Speiser, E.A. 21 Stackert, J. 131 Stamm, J.J. 58, 59 Staszak, M. 114 Sulzberger, M. 69, 138 Szlechter, E. 16, 17, 20

Thompson, J.A. 100

Tomasino, A. 96, 130 Trebilco, P. 111

Van Seters, J. 115 Von Gall, A. 53, 74, 138 Von Savigny, F.K. 10, 12

Wagner, S. 129
Wagner, V. 35, 137
Waltke, B.K. 93, 98, 115
Watts, J.W. 63
Wazana, N. 25
Weinfeld, M. 123, 124
Wellhausen, J. 103, 114, 124, 131
Wells, B. 15, 16, 108
Westbrook, R. 16, 22
Wevers, J.W. 68, 74, 138
Wharton, J.A. 56
Williams, T.F. 95
Wolff, H.W. 109
Wright, D.P. 37, 115

Zakovitch, Y. 120-122

## Subject Index

Accident 64–68, 93, 97, 109, 127, 128–130, 141 Ambush 94, 137 Anglo–Saxon law 8–9 Arrangement 106–107, 125–126, 132, 137, 146	Cities of refuge 1–3, 46–49, 51–57, 60, 68–69, 72–75, 78–80, 84, 86–87, 95, 101, 103–104, 107, 109–110, 114, 121–127, 129–136, 139–141, 145–146, 148, 150, 153, 156–158, 160–161
Assembly 72, 76–77, 92, 98–103, 105,	Clan 32–33, 53, 69–70, 82
146–147, 158, 161 Authority of the law 7–8, 11–12, 28	Classification of biblical laws 31–37  – situational criterion 35–36
Avenger of blood 54, 68, 69–73, 75, 86,	<ul><li>internal criterion 35–36</li></ul>
92–93, 95, 98–105, 112–113, 123, 130, 133, 137–141, 146–147, 157–	Codex of Hammurabi 16–17, 20–21, 24–25, 35
158, 161	Commandments 7, 102, 118, 135–136, 140
Biblical Codes 38, 43, 160  - Covenant code 35–38, 44, 114–116,	Community 6, 12, 32–34, 58–59, 69, 72, 77, 83, 98, 102–103, 111, 116
141, 157	Consciousness 64-67, 127, 160
- Deuteronomic code 38, 44, 123	Covenant 26-28, 31, 35-38, 44, 59, 111,
Blood 51, 54, 59–60, 69–73, 75, 82, 86,	114–116, 120–121, 136, 140–141,
92, 96, 98–107, 110–112, 123, 130,	157, 159
133, 136–141, 146–147, 157, 161	Crime 31–33, 37, 59–60, 75, 80, 91, 93,
Blood shedding 54	103–104, 108–109, 111–112, 127–
Blood vengeance 59–60, 71, 73, 75, 92,	128, 130–131, 140–141
96, 106–107, 110, 112–113, 141,	Critica textus 139, 149
157	Cultic texts 63, 78, 116, 132
Book of Numbers 1–5, 25, 27, 29, 38–	De-41-22-59-60-66-67-71-72-00-05
39, 41–44, 46, 49, 60, 86, 96, 106,	Death 33, 58–60, 66–67, 71, 73, 90–95,
146, 150, 159–160 – structure 38–42	98, 103–104, 107–111, 114–115,
- structure 38–42 - legal material 41–44	119, 127–130, 132, 138–139, 145– 147, 157
Bribery 109	Decalogue 31, 58, 60, 116–118
	Democracy 76–77
Capital punishment 49, 58–59, 61, 120	Deuteronomic legislation 86, 122–141
Capital sentence 92–93, 107, 109–110	Distraction 63, 67
Casuistic precepts 25, 115, 127, 129	Divine speech 46, 50
Cities of asylum 45, 47, 49, 57, 78, 96,	
104, 111, 121, 131	Eduba 22

Egyptian Juridical Collections 17–19 Elders 77, 138–139, 141, 146–147, 150,

158

Enmity 60, 95, 97–98, 123 Error 63–64, 66, 68, 155

Family 14, 32–33, 69–72, 75, 82, 92, 96, 114, 130, 141
Fault 63–64
Fear 129, 135
Foreigner 81–84
Formgeschichte 122
Fulfilment report 156, 158

Guilty 33, 61, 64, 91, 104–105, 109, 112, 137, 139

Hatred 60, 93–94, 127, 132, 137 High priest 103–104, 110, 146–147 Homicide 3, 5, 38, 44–45, 47–52, 54, 57, 59–61, 67–75, 80, 84–87, 89–92, 95–99, 101, 103–104, 106–109, 111, 113–116, 119–123, 125–131, 136– 138, 140–141, 148, 155, 157–158, 160–161

- inadvertent 47, 51, 54, 59–60, 64–67,72–74, 80, 85–87, 99, 122, 157–158,160
- unintentional 44, 50-51, 67-68, 71, 75, 84-85, 89-90, 95-98, 107, 111, 120, 123, 128-130, 136, 157-158
- *involuntary* 48, 51, 59, 111, 113, 120, 155
- *malicious* 51, 60, 85, 87, 89–91, 95, 97, 99, 107
- unwitting 60, 74–75, 86–87, 127
- deliberate 38, 59, 61, 92, 107, 120, 161

Ignorance 63, 66 Illegal killing 59, 136 Inadvertence 61–62, 64–67, 85, 155 Industrialisation 14 Intentionality 90, 93, 98, 129, 137 Interdependence 157 Israelite society 69, 71

Jewish law 5–6 Judge 11–13, 20–21, 105 Judgement 12, 21, 72, 75, 78, 80, 87, 98–99, 101–102, 105–106, 113, 130, 146–147, 161 Juridical models 9–15

- Evolutionism 9–10

- Diffusionism 10–11

- statutory 11–12, 14

- customary 12–13

- static 12–16

- dynamic 12–16

Jus personae 84, 102, 106, 137

Jus soli 84, 102, 106, 137, 158

Justinian code 7, 20, 108

Killer 45, 48, 54, 57, 59–60, 62, 67, 69, 71–75, 78, 85, 87, 90–94, 98–112, 114, 120, 122

"Law in action" 15–16, 19
"Law of tort" 31
Legal conflicts 32–34
Legal systems 5–27
Legal texts 5–27
Levites 46–47, 78
Levitical cities 47–49, 78
Lex talionis 71, 91, 123, 161
Liability 105

Manslaughter 44, 89–90, 93, 96–98, 107, 125, 127, 139–140

Mesopotamian juridical collections 16–19, 20–22, 24–26, 71, 76

Mishpat, mishpatim 114–122, 141

Montesquieu 21

Munus judicandi 12

Murderer 33, 47, 57, 59–60, 71, 74, 85, 92, 98–99, 101, 136–139, 141, 146, 158

Negligence 63, 66

Orphans 82 Outlaw 105

Pandects 10
Persian Laws 17
Personae miserae 82
Precaution 129
Predominance of action 8
Premeditation 93–96, 146–147
Priests 64, 153
Private justice 75, 140

Procedure 21, 33–34, 44, 47, 90, 93, 99, 104, 108, 113, 118–119, 130, 136

Promised land 40, 46, 51, 53–54, 79, 133, 140

Protection 69, 72, 81–82, 103–105, 109–110, 112, 132, 146–147

Punishment 31, 33, 46, 49, 58–61, 91, 108

Ransom 108–110 Reform of Josiah 132 Reformulation 45–112 Resident 81–84 Revenge 75, 104, 113, 133, 141, 158, 161 Roman law 7–8 Romanticism 13

Settlement law 33–34, 108 Sin 63–65, 140 Slayer 98 Sumerian laws 16, 22

Torah 38, 42, 45, 103, 105, 108, 112, 123, 142, 158, 161
Transitional law 75

Unconsciousness 65, 127 Unwittingness 60, 74–75, 86–87, 127 Urban society 14

Vendetta 75, 92, 99 Vengeance 54, 59–60, 69, 71, 73, 75, 86, 92, 96, 102, 106–107, 110, 112–113, 130, 139, 141, 157 Volksgeist 12

War 32, 58, 75 Widows 82 Wilful case 90–95 Witness 66, 108